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Congress should set up guidelines that classify different degrees 
of Rule 11 violations and escalate penalties as the violation is 
deemed more egregious by a court. This will address concerns 
of abusive litigation by tailoring a violation to the degree of the 
penalty while also not unfairly inhibiting plaintiffs from entering 
the courthouse doors. 

II. Background to the PSLRA and Congress’ 
Efforts to Correct Abusive Litigation 
Practices

A. In Terrorem Complaints and Abusive Litigation which 
Concerned Congress before they Enacted the PSLRA

One of the primary concerns which led Congress to enact 
the PSLRA was the danger posed by vexatious litigation, some-
times initiated merely whenever a stock price declined. The 
Court first noted this danger in Blue Chip Stamps v. Manor 
Drug Stores,11 where the Court observed existing dangers12 
with the possibility of broadly expanding the range of plaintiffs 
that could sue under Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act. In Blue 
Chip, the Court considered whether offerees of a stock, made 
pursuant to an antitrust consent decree, could maintain a private 
cause of action under 10(b) when the offerees neither purchased 
nor sold any of the offered shares.13 While Blue Chip predates 
the PSLRA, the Court’s opinion signals one of the first instances 
where liberal pleading rules in securities litigation received criti-
cism after abusive litigation was employed.   

It was precisely this abusive litigation that Congress sought 
to dispose of when they enacted the PSLRA, because Congress 
largely reasoned that meritless suits were “a social cost, rather 
than a benefit.”14 More precisely, Congress sought to deter 
meritless suits which had value to plaintiffs simply because they 

I. Introduction

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 19951 
(“PSLRA” or “Act”) drastically altered private securities 
litigation by erecting a high barrier against fraud-based 

shareholder lawsuits and burdening shareholders with additional 
pleading requirements when shareholders sue. Motivated by 
overwhelming episodes of abusive litigation2 that unduly bur-
dened companies,3 Congress overrode President Clinton’s veto4 
to enact the PSLRA and instituted heightened pleading standards 
for fraud-based shareholder lawsuits. As a result, federal securities 
fraud actions have noticed notable changes. 

The PSLRA statutory changes primarily impacted share-
holder suits by enhancing the pleading requirements a share-
holder complaint must meet in two primary ways. First, a 
complaint must “plead with particularity” (1) each statement 
alleged to have been misleading, (2) the reason why the statement 
was misleading, and (3) all facts on which that belief is formed.5 

Secondly, any allegation as to the state of mind must state with 
“particularity” facts amounting to “a strong inference” that the 
defendant acted with the required state of mind.6  

In light of recent episodes concerning corporate misman-
agement,7 Congress would be well advised to reconsider lowering 
the pleading requirements it imposed upon shareholders when 
enacting the PSLRA and creating guidelines that impose higher 
Rule 11 sanctions when there has been abusive litigation. More 
compelling still is that statistical data has concluded that the 
PSLRA has been ineffective in curbing abusive litigation,8 and 
other commentators have discussed the “procedural catch 22”9 
that the demanding procedural requirements place upon plain-
tiffs while depriving them of discovery. Lowering the pleading 
requirements would provide greater oversight for stockholders 
and encourage sound management by exposing poor corporate 
practices. Even in cases where shareholders lose at trial, the 
investing public would be better informed by the increased cor-
porate transparency resulting from the discovery process—both 
goals advanced by the Securities Exchange Acts of 1933 and 
1934.10 Concerns about vexatious litigation and in terrorem com-
plaints can be addressed by increased Rule 11 sanctions already 
in the Act. Like sentencing guidelines used in criminal cases, 
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could consume large amounts of time and detract from busi-
ness activity.15 Congress noted that “professional plaintiffs” who 
would own only nominal amounts in a wide array of companies 
and would thereby possess standing to sue a broad array of issu-
ers.16 Such complaints, often initiated only after a company’s 
stock price would drop, would amount to nothing more than 
“fishing expeditions,”17 where plaintiff ’s counsel would seek to 
obtain any damaging evidence against the defendant in the suit, 
often without good faith anticipation of any wrongdoing. Thus, 
the settlement value of the claim was often proportional to the 
money required to mount a defense.  These complaints are pre-
cisely those which the Court described as in terrorem18 because 
they were filed merely to generate fear and were limited in value 
insofar as they implicated a cost to the defendant in preparing a 
defense. In addition to these abusive practices motivating suits, 
plaintiffs would often initiate a “race to the courthouse” in order 
to be lead plaintiff and obtain the financial benefits of that 
designation.

B. How Congress Addressed these Problems when it Enacted 
the PSLRA

In response to these concerns, Congress devised three 
amendments within the PSLRA to curb the problems associated 
with abusive and vexatious litigation. First, Congress required 
that plaintiffs state with particularity the facts constituting the 
alleged violation, and to “state with particularity facts giving rise 
to a strong inference that the defendant acted with the required 
state of mind.”19 Second, Congress sought to eliminate problems 
generating a “race to the courthouse” by specifying criteria to 
determine the “most adequate plaintiff,”20 mainly relating to the 
institutional investor owning the largest portion of the issuer’s 
stock. Third, Congress addressed Rule 11 sanctions against 
attorneys who bring suits without merit, in hopes of awarding a 
sufficient sanction to make the defendant whole once the action 
terminates.  

1. Pleading with Elements “Particularity” and Alleging 
“Strong Inference” of the Required State of Mind While 
Denying Discovery 

In order to avoid dismissal of a cause of action, Congress 
required that a complaint, “state with particularity facts giv-
ing rise to a strong inference that the defendant acted with the 
required state of mind.”21 In Tellabs, Inc. v. Major Issues & 
Rights, Ltd.,22 the Court elaborated upon the language of “ris-
ing to a strong inference” to give litigants more context as to 
what would be a sufficiently plead complaint. In Tellabs, the 
Court held that in order for an inference to qualify as “strong” as 
required under 15 U.S.C. §78 u-4 (b), such an inference must 
be cogent and equally “as compelling as any opposing inference 
of nonfraudulent intent.”23 Moreover, the Court added that in 
determining whether a complaint sufficiently alleged a “strong 

inference,” a complaint had to be viewed in its entirety and 
opposing inferences, ones weighing against the legally required 
state of mind, had to be considered by the court.24 In addition 
to the changes concern pleadings, the PSLRA limits a plaintiff ’s 
access to information by requiring that discovery be stayed, pend-
ing the resolution of all dispositive motions.25 

Tellabs involved a group of shareholders suing under Sec-
tion 10(b) of the Exchange Act while claiming that the issuer 
falsely represented the value of its stock.26 In their complaint, the 
investors alleged that Tellabs, “falsely reassured public investors... 
that Tellabs was continuing to enjoy strong demand for its prod-
ucts and earning record revenues,” and that in doing so, Tellabs 
falsely represented the company’s financial health. The Court, 
while articulating the proper standard under 15 U.S.C. §78 u-4, 
vacated the Seventh Circuit’s conclusion that a “strong inference” 
merely required the complaint to allege facts from which, if true, 
a reasonable person could infer that the defendant acted with the 
required intent.27 

In addition to changes created by the PSLRA, the Federal 
Rules of Civil Procedure impose a more demanding pleading 
standard for stockholders seeking to hold corporate insiders 
liable. Rule 9(b) requires that a plaintiff “must state with particu-
larity the circumstances constituting fraud or mistake,”28 when 
pleading fraud or mistake. Moreover, the Supreme Court also 
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3. Mandatory Rule 11 Sanctions to Make Whole Those 
Subjected to Bad Faith Litigation

In addition to the procedural mechanisms enacted in the 
PSLRA, Congress decided to further deter abusive litigation by 
imposing mandatory Rule 11 sanctions39 on plaintiffs counsel at 
the conclusion of litigation. Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Civil 
Procedure is intended to deter attorneys from filing frivolous law-
suits in the interests of judicial efficiency.40 More specific to secu-
rities litigation, Congress required courts to conduct a mandatory 
review as to whether counsel violated Rule 11 at the conclusion of 
the litigation.41 The Act creates a rebuttable presumption42 that 
any finding of a Rule 11 violation entitles the opposing part to 
“reasonable attorneys’ fees and other expenses incurred as a direct 
result of the violation.”43 In enacting such provisions, Congress 
recognized that previous Rule 11 sanctions had been an ineffec-
tive mechanism to deter abusive litigation, and that courts were 
often overly reluctant to impose damages.44 As a result, Congress 
intended to “give teeth” to Rule 11 sanctions and aspired to have 
the Rule 11 sanction make the wronged party whole after the 
litigation while also deterring future conduct.45

III. Reducing the PSLRA’s Pleading 
Requirements will Improve Corporate 
Transparency and Better Inform the 
Investing Public by Exposing Poorly-
Reasoned Corporate Practices

In light of recent public events concerning inadequate 
corporate transparency and ensuing financial crisis,46 Congress 
would be well advised to amend the PSLRA to allow more 
shareholders to sue. Doing so will increase corporate transpar-
ency through the discovery process and further the aims of better 
informing the investing public, both aims squarely advanced by 
the 33 and 34 Acts.47 Moreover, existing pleading requirements 
in Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 9 and Supreme Court juris-
prudence already require plaintiffs to allege facts with particular-
ity and to allege enough to make a case for relief plausible on its 
face, thus making the particularity requirements of the PSLRA 
duplicative and unduly burdensome for plaintiffs. Lastly, con-
cerns over abusive and meritless litigation can be addressed by 
maintaining and even enhancing the current Rule 11 framework 
for sanctions by created a multi-tiered classification of violations, 
which would entitle the aggrieved party to double or triple fees if 
a court so found necessary to deter baseless litigation.  

A. Even if Plaintiffs Lose at Trial, the Discovery Process will 
Better Inform the Investing Public, a Fundamental Aim of 
the 33 and 34 Acts

Protecting investors by requiring corporate transparency 
has been a central aim of securities policy since the enactment 
of the Securities Acts of 1933 and ‘34.48 Presently, all discovery 
is stayed49 pending the resolution of all dispositive pre-trial 
motions, thus erecting a high procedural barrier for plaintiffs to 

influenced pleading requirements when it decided Bell Atlantic 
Corp. v. Twombly.29  In Twombly, the Court altered the tra-
ditional pleading requirements under Rule 12(b)(6) to include 
requiring, “enough facts to state a claim to relief that is plausible 
on its face.”30 In doing so, the Court added to the pleading 
requirements a plaintiff was required to meet in order to survive 
a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6).

2. Professional Plaintiffs, Races to the Courthouse and 
the Lead Plaintiff as an Institutional Investor

Abusive litigation took place when “professional plaintiffs” 
raced to the courthouse to become lead plaintiffs in a suit. As 
a result, Congress enacted several provisions in the PSLRA to 
address these problems. First, Congress limited the role of lead 
plaintiff to the “most adequate plaintiff.” This determination 
is made by court and places the plaintiff having the greatest 
financial stake in the outcome of the suit as the “most adequate 
plaintiff ” to be the lead plaintiff in the suit.31 Previously, the 
lead plaintiff was determined on a “first come, first serve” basis, 
leading “plaintiffs’ attorneys to become fleet of foot and sleight of 
hand. Most often speed has replaced diligence in drafting com-
plaints.”32 Counsel had incentive to be the lead plaintiff because 
often such would bring financial benefits.33 Indeed, a class of 
“professional plaintiffs”34 emerged who owned merely nominal 
shares in large issuers and thereafter sued for meritless reasons.35

Accordingly, Congress sought to limit the financial incen-
tives leading plaintiffs to race to the courthouse and being lead 
plaintiff. First, the PSLRA limited a lead plaintiffs award only a 
pro-rata share of the plaintiff ’s ownership in the issuer.36 There-
after, the PSLRA specified criteria for courts to determine the 
“most adequate plaintiff,”37 mainly relating to the institutional 
investor owning the largest portion of the issuer’s stock. This 
resulted in the lead plaintiff as limited to “institutional inves-
tors,” those investors holding the largest share of company stock. 
Congress reasoned that institutional investors were the ones that 
could most benefit from meritorious litigation since they also 
had the largest interest in the financial stake of the companies 
they owned.38 As a result, the PSLRA sought to eliminate the 
financial incentives for “professional plaintiffs” to be the lead 
plaintiff by changing awards to only a pro rata share of the stock 
ownership and giving the privilege of being lead plaintiff to 
institutional investors who could best represent the interests of 
the stockholders. 

In response to these concerns,  

Congress devised three amendments within 

the PSLRA to curb the problems associated 

with abusive and vexatious litigation.
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such a requirement, Congress intended to enhance the pleading 
requirements and place a more demanding burden on plaintiffs 
if they intended to avoid having their complaint dismissed under 
Rule 12(b)(6).53

Nevertheless, the interests represented by §78 u-4 (b)(1) 
and (b)(2) are already codified within the existing requirements 
that plaintiffs must meet, making such requirements duplicative 
and unduly burdensome in many cases. Federal Rule of Civil 
Procedure 9 applies to actions having as elements “fraud or mis-
take” and requires that “the circumstances constituting fraud … 
be stated with particularity.”54 Indeed, while Rule 9 is tailored 
to fraud actions, Rule 9 is not the sole mechanism for ensuring 
that a complaint contains a sufficient factual basis to proceed to 
trial. In Twombly, the Court elaborated that a complaint needed 
to allege requiring, “enough facts to state a claim to relief that is 
plausible on its face.”55 After Twombly, a complaint could longer 
proceed to trial under the “no set of facts” standard from Conley 
v. Gibson.56

As a result, Twombly and Rule 9 already encompass many 
of the concerns that Congress contemplated when it passed the 
PSLRA in 1995, and such requirements in the Act are duplica-
tive and unfairly burden plaintiffs when pleading their case.57 
Rule 9, like §78 u-4 (b)(1), already requires a plaintiff to plead 
with particularity all elements of their cause of action. More-
over, Twombly requires that the plaintiffs allege sufficient facts 
to make a complaint “plausible on it’s face,” a standard which 
advances the interest of alleging enough facts to arise to a “strong 
inference”58 that the defendants acted with the required state of 
mind. In Tellabs, the Court elaborated that a “strong inference” 
required determining whether the allegations were “cogent” and 
equally “as compelling as any opposing inference of nonfraudu-
lent intent.”59 Accordingly, alleging enough facts to make a 
complaint “plausible on its face” most likely already requires the 
plaintiff to compellingly allege facts to equally as compelling to 
avoid any opposing inference of nonfradulent activity. 

C. Alleging Facts Amounting to a “Strong Inference” Before 
Allowing Discovery Unfairly Burdens the Plaintiff and 
Leaves a Plaintiff ’s in a “Procedural Catch-22” 

Congress should remove the stay of discovery requirement 
to better allow plaintiffs to state a cause of action. In order to sur-
vive a motion to dismiss, the PSLRA requires a plaintiff to allege 
facts amounting to a “strong inference” that the defendants acted 
with the required mental state.60 However, the PSLRA unfairly 
limits a plaintiff ’s access to information by staying discovery until 
the conclusion of all dispositive motions61—such as a motion to 
dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6). As a result, plaintiffs are unfairly 
caught in a “procedural catch-22”62 and this creates the danger 
that legitimate complaints will be dismissed.63 This is especially 
true when Tellabs requires a court to not read a complaint “in 
a vacuum”64 and consider opposing inferences of lawful intent. 

obtain vital non-public information to form their case-in-chief. 
While discovery is a time consuming process that often requires 
substantial resources,50 the discovery process does have the 
benefit of providing shareholders access to information through 
depositions, access to corporate documents and other sources of 
information. Allowing discovery would also give shareholders the 
opportunity to obtain targeted information about the corporate 
practices which has raised suspicion and altered shareholders that 
some illegal activity is taking place. Lastly, the enhanced possibil-
ity that corporate officers and directors could be sued will have 
the ripple effect of further altering corporate actors of the conse-
quences of breaching any legal duties, and thereby promote more 
transparent corporate conduct. Accordingly, allowing more suits 
to proceed to discovery will further enhance corporate transpar-
ency and encourage proper conduct by corporate officials. 

B. Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 9 and Twombly Already 
Require that a Complaint Plead with Specificity and Allege 
Facts Making a case for Relief Plausible on its Face.

The PSLRA sought to curb abusive litigation by erecting 
a higher barrier for plaintiffs to avoid dismissal of their claim. 
The PSLRA requires a complaint to plead with particularity (1) 
each statement alleged to have been misleading, (2) the reason 
why the statement was misleading, and (3) all facts on which 
that belief is formed.51 Moreover, the complaint must state with 
particularity facts amounting to “a strong inference” that the 
defendant acted with the required state of mind.52 In outlining 
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Because of this flexibility, mere creativity or speculation allows 
defense counsel to proffer lawful inferences that can explain 
the defendants conduct and thereby compel a court to dismiss 
the action for failure to plead a strong inference of the required 
state of mind.65 Accordingly, removing the stay on discovery66 

will better allow plaintiffs to establish sufficient facts to show 
“a strong inference” of the required state of mind in order to 
proceed to trial.

D. Even After Lowering the Pleading Requirements, 
Abusive Litigation can be Avoided by Retaining—and Even 
Enhancing—Rule 11 Sanctions 

 Congress was rightfully concerned with abusive litiga-
tion when it enacted the PSLRA, given the substantial history 
of meritless lawsuits brought by “professional plaintiffs.” As a 
result, Congress specifically provided for Rule 11 sanctions to 
deter abusive litigation.67 Congress required a mandatory review 
as to whether counsel violated Rule 1168 and created a rebuttable 
presumption69 that a Rule 11 violation entitles the opposing part 
to reasonable attorneys’ fees and other expenses from the viola-
tion.70 However, as scholarship has shown, such sanctions have 
been ineffective in deterring abusive class action suits.71 

1. Create a Rubric Which Imposes Increased Sanctions 
for Rule 11 Sanctions that Correlate to the Seriousness of the 
Rule 11 Violation

Congress should create a rubric tailored to securities litiga-
tion that classifies different types of Rule 11 violations and pro-
vides penalties that should be imposed for the corresponding 
violations. Borrowing from the logic that promotes sentencing 

guidelines in criminal cases,72 courts conducting their manda-
tory Rule 11 inquiry would take the guidelines under advisement 
when considering the penalty to impose a violator. Indeed, the 
guidelines would also provide courts with much-need guidance 
as to what conduct amounts to a Rule 11 violation within the 
context of securities litigation. 

Congress currently requires that court’s conduct a manda-
tory review as to whether counsel violated Rule 11 at the con-
clusion of the litigation.73 Thus, the more significant the court 
determines a Rule 11 violation to be, the more recovery that 
would be available to the defendant at the plaintiff ’s expense. 
Some proposed criteria that could aggravate a violation could be, 
(1) degree of research and investigation prior to filing the lawsuit; 
(2) significance of loss suffered by the plaintiff; (3) the presence 
of unfair or deceptive representations which the defendant knew 
or should have known would lead to the plaintiffs’ harm; (4) a 
correlation between the information the plaintiff used in their 
complaint and the scope of discovery; and (5) other standards 
of fairness which the court may deem proper for consideration. 
While these standards are flexible, they provide courts with needed 
autonomy to consider the unique elements of each violation on a 
case by case basis – and any imperfections can always be amended, 
since the guidelines would merely serve and advisory role. 

2. Require that Rule 11 Sanctions be Paid According to 
Plaintiffs Pro Rata Share

Lastly, Rule 11 sanctions must also be paid out according 
to each plaintiff ’s pro rata share of ownership in the company 
stock.  This will be entirely appropriate, since the plaintiff with 
the largest pro rata share will also be the “institutional investor” 
operating as the lead plaintiff orchestrating the litigation and 
overseeing the process. 

IV. Conclusion
The PSLRA was enacted with the legitimate concerns of 

preventing abusive and meritless litigation that did not provide 
any social benefit. However, in light of recent episodes of cor-
porate misconduct, Congress should reconsider the pleading 
requirements the PSLRA imposes. Doing so will allow more 
plaintiffs to sue defendants and enhance corporate transparency. 
Amending the stay of discovery will also allow plaintiffs to avoid 
a “procedural catch-22” and crafting stricter Rule 11 sanctions 
will adequately deter abusive litigation. BLB

The PSLRA sought to curb abusive litigation by erecting a higher barrier for  

plaintiffs to avoid dismissal of their claim.  The PSLRA requires a complaint to plead  

with particularity (1) each statement alleged to have been misleading, (2) the reason why  

the statement was misleading, and (3) all facts on which that belief is formed.
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